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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Good morning.

          3                 I am Gale Brewer, Chair of the City

          4  Council Committee on Technology in Government, and I

          5  am here with Fredy Kaplan who is the attorney for

          6  the Committee, and Bruce Lai whom may of you know

          7  who is the Policy Analyst, and who has been a huge

          8  asset to the issue of technology in government for

          9  quite some time. We thank both Fredy and Bruce for

         10  their interest and support on this topic.

         11                 Today's hearing is, "Oversight of

         12  Releasing Geographic Information Systems Data," also

         13  known as GIS, "Ensuring Security and Safety and

         14  Making Public Information Accessible."

         15                 I also feel like I am in a GISMO

         16  meeting, looking at all of the wonderful people here

         17  today.

         18                 This is a very special topic.  Some

         19  years ago we had a, sort of, also introductory

         20  discussion of GIS, and what some of the efforts are

         21  going on around the United States, and this one is

         22  specific to the issue of making information

         23  available but doing it in a way that ensures our own

         24  security.  So, that is what we are going to be

         25  talking about today.
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          2                 Some of the issues that we will be

          3  looking at is what is the NYCMap, and why it is so

          4  important.

          5                 What are the benefits to making the

          6  map more accessible?  And what are the costs?

          7                 Is the Department of Information and

          8  Technology and Telecommunications licensing policy

          9  for the map too restrictive, and if so, why?

         10                 How can DoITT make the map more

         11  accessible, while at the same time protecting public

         12  safety, which is what I just mentioned?

         13                 What are some possible policies that

         14  DoITT could adapt or adopt that would satisfy these

         15  goals?

         16                 The map is the official base map for

         17  the City of New York.  I think everybody in this

         18  room knows what that is but it is created with a

         19  fly- over, meaning somebody actually taking a

         20  photograph, and there are people in this room who

         21  had a whole lot to do with that, and we are very

         22  grateful.  There are many data layers, again,

         23  everybody in this room knows many more than are

         24  listed here but curb lines, building footprints,

         25  water bodies, building rooftops, underground
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          2  infrastructure, and I think that was probably the

          3  impetus for the map in the first place, and DoITT's

          4  map portal- anybody who uses the WWW.NYC.GOV knows

          5  well that portal which is extremely helpful.

          6                 Why is the NYCMap so important?

          7                 It was created so that every point on

          8  it yields a highly accurate and indisputable

          9  geographic coordinate.  Without an official standard

         10  base map, everyone's map would be a little bit

         11  different.

         12                 We talk about emergencies, and of

         13  course, I think the most horrific was 9/11, and I

         14  tell everybody that I saw Al Leidner going every

         15  single day down to World Trade Center from our

         16  neighborhood, actually making this map work for

         17  whatever was possible in terms of coordinates during

         18  that terrible time, so that was the worst tragedy,

         19  and of course, there are many of them that take

         20  place in our City, unfortunately, and it is always

         21  helpful. This is just an example listed up here

         22  regarding the Fire Department, and some of their

         23  challenges.

         24                 The public availability of NYC base

         25  maps- NYCMap is a "read- only" at DoITT's Map
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          2  Portal, you can see it on the web, and you can print

          3  out a screen shot.  This is what is available in our

          4  City under WWW.NYC.GOV.

          5                 Department of City Planning's LION

          6  street map and Tax Block map are free.

          7                 Department of City Planning's Tax Lot

          8  map is available for purchase for a nominal fee and

          9  certain restrictions.              As somebody who

         10  represents community boards like many elected

         11  officials in Manhattan, we have been working with

         12  Board 4 and Board 7 to try to do some overlays for

         13  what are the newer developments on the West Side of

         14  Manhattan.  So, we have been actually using some of

         15  these overlays and they have pros and cons in terms

         16  of benefitting local groups because sometimes the

         17  information may be there but it needs a great deal

         18  of walk- arounds, so to speak, in order to be

         19  completely accurate.  So, these are just some of the

         20  challenges that we face when you are actually trying

         21  to use the material.

         22                 The public availability of base maps

         23  of other government bodies- The State of New York is

         24  available for free via web and for download, and I

         25  actually used that today just to look at it and it
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          2  is extremely user friendly.

          3                 The State of Massachusetts is also

          4  available for free via web and for download, and I

          5  think all of the members of GISMO and anybody else

          6  could be very happy with some of the insignias, for

          7  lack of a better word, on the Massachusetts map, and

          8  I found it less user friendly but perhaps, much more

          9  helpful for those who really know GIS.

         10                 The U. S. Geological Survey is also

         11  available for free via web and for download, and it

         12  is extremely comprehensive.

         13                 Some preliminary risk analysis; most

         14  of the NYCMap data, both planimetric and aerial

         15  photography, is available from other sources for a

         16  fee but most of this information, the non sensitive,

         17  is not detailed enough to plan a terrorist attack.

         18  That was our material, and I think the Rand Study

         19  felt the same.

         20                 Some of NYCMap data, sort of,

         21  underground infrastructure is not available from

         22  other sources and many people agree that this data

         23  (sensitive) should not be easily accessible, I think

         24  everybody would agree with that.

         25                 Costs and benefits of continuing to
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          2  not releasing NYCMap:

          3                 Societal cost, decreased GIS

          4  innovation; NYCMap, thanks to many people in this

          5  room, is considered the highest quality base map of

          6  any city, I would imagine.

          7                 Everyone wants to use it because it

          8  is the most accurate, obviously, many professionals

          9  need the raw data.  OASIS and CITI would not be

         10  possible without this map.  There is a security

         11  benefit of combinations of GIS information may be

         12  risky, that would be that challenge of releasing any

         13  information.

         14                 These are just some policy options

         15  that we have, it does not mean that they would be

         16  agreed upon by everybody here in this room, and so

         17  this is all why we are here today to discuss.

         18                 Releasing non- sensitive map data is,

         19  obviously, meaning that people could download for

         20  free, which is certainly possible when one looks at

         21  the State of New York where you can find all kinds

         22  of different information.

         23                 I like the one from Massachusetts

         24  when it said he could get the listing of the

         25  cranberry bogs, I thought that was very cool.

                                                            9

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 Nominal fee and licensing; that is

          3  obviously something that City Planning offers, and

          4  it might be something that could also be available

          5  for a wider variety of information.

          6                 In term of sensitive, one way to curb

          7  releasing any sensitive data, would be, I guess this

          8  is what is done on other maps, is to reduce the

          9  resolution of any image so it was not clear at all.

         10  Obviously it is a blur, I guess it would be

         11  something similar to the terms of what the public

         12  would see, and obviously, you could do some kind of

         13  security clearance.

         14                 I understand that in some places

         15  where there are maps, the city or the municipality

         16  or the government has a room which is accessible

         17  only to those who have some kind of security

         18  clearance, and obviously they cannot take the

         19  information away.

         20                 So, some recommendations are to work

         21  with the GIS community through GISMO or other means

         22  to come up with a compromise policy, and to make

         23  their NYCMap release policy publicly available so

         24  that at least people knew on the web what the policy

         25  was, so that it was clear that this is a way that
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          2  you can access this information, and we will make it

          3  a, sort of, a policy written so that everybody knows

          4  what is or is not available.

          5                 So, without further ado, I just want

          6  to state that this is an oversight, not a

          7  legislative or budget discussion. It is a discussion

          8  to educate some of my colleagues.  I think that we

          9  have four or five members of the committee.  I am

         10  sure they will be here in due time.

         11                 Why don't we start with our first

         12  panelist, Marsha Kaunitz who is Director of Citywide

         13  GIS at DoITT, and we are delighted that you are

         14  here.  We thank you for always being so responsive.

         15                 Good morning and thank you very much

         16  for joining us on a freezing cold day, and we

         17  welcome your testimony.

         18                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Good morning

         19  Chairperson Brewer, and members of the Technology in

         20  Government Committee.

         21                 My name is Marsha Kaunitz, and I am

         22  the Director of Citywide GIS in the Department of

         23  Information Technology and Telecommunications, more

         24  commonly known as DoITT.  With me is Emily Johnson,

         25  Information Technology and Telecommunications
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          2  Counsel at DoITT.

          3                 I am pleased to join you today to

          4  discuss NYCMap and DoITT's policies for sharing GIS

          5  data with outside entities and with the public.

          6                 Today, I would like to provide an

          7  overview of GIS in the City of New York, and explain

          8  what NYCMap is and how is came into being.

          9                 I would also like to mention a few

         10  examples of how GIS data is being offered directly

         11  to the public as well as how it is shared with other

         12  governmental entities and vendors.

         13                 New York City government has

         14  collected and used geographic information since the

         15  70's.  While individual city agencies made extensive

         16  use of this information, the data has largely

         17  existed in isolated "silos" so that it could not be

         18  shared with cross agencies.  In order to address

         19  this inefficient use of resources, the City decided

         20  to have a number of agencies work together to bridge

         21  the information gap.

         22                 Since the effort to make GIS

         23  information more available across agencies began, a

         24  number of projects have contributed toward creating

         25  the GIS mapping and analysis tools that we have
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          2  today.

          3                 Geographic Information Systems in New

          4  York dates back to the work of the Department of

          5  City Planning in the late 1970's.  City Planning's

          6  development of the LION street centerline file, the

          7  COGIS block and lot map and the Geosupport system

          8  were the building blocks of GIS in our City, and

          9  have become indispensable resources for city

         10  agencies.

         11                 Another example of this effort came

         12  in 1995, when the Department of Environmental

         13  Protection agreed to fund the creation of a citywide

         14  photogrammetric basemap showing all streets, curbs,

         15  buildings, water bodies, train stations, and more

         16  within two feet of their actual location; this

         17  basemap is known today as NYCMap.

         18                 NYCMap is the name given to the

         19  digital basemap for New York City, and includes data

         20  derived from aerial photography as well as two-

         21  dimensional data of the City's infrastructure and

         22  landmass.

         23                 Today's NYCMap provides a geometric

         24  inventory of the City's physical characteristics and

         25  infrastructure; it also provides a single accurate,
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          2  positionally correct basemap for city agencies to

          3  register their data.

          4                 As part of NYCMap's development, a

          5  citywide GIS needs assessment was undertaken and, in

          6  January 2000, based on recommendations from this

          7  study, the Citywide GIS Unit was established within

          8  the Department of Information Technology and

          9  Telecommunications.

         10                 The Unit began developing NYCMap to

         11  serve as a central repository for agencies looking

         12  to register their data with NYCMap or to build

         13  applications that utilize NYCMap as a data source.

         14                 Once requirements were identified,

         15  the Unit began creating a central utility to house,

         16  maintain and distribute the basemap to users.

         17  NYCMap's data layers of geographic features are a

         18  powerful resource for city, state and federal

         19  agencies to use for planning, analysis and mapping.

         20                 MYCMap serves as a key element in

         21  developing geographic applications.  For example,

         22  governmental agencies have leveraged this data to

         23  map crime statistics, support computer- aided

         24  dispatch (CAD) for emergency responders, track

         25  sanitation salt trucks, map underground
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          2  infrastructure, manage construction activities, and

          3  develop emerging wireless technologies such as

          4  remote sensing and GPS.

          5                 While city, state and federal

          6  government entities use the NYCMap to improve how

          7  they serve the public and manage potential emergency

          8  situations, the public can also access and use this

          9  data.

         10                 Two major examples of how NYCMap data

         11  is being used to benefit the general public are the

         12  New York City Map Portal and the My Neighborhood

         13  Statistics application.

         14                 The New York City Map Portal was

         15  launched in August 2004, and provides an important

         16  first step in linking similar but isolated

         17  geographic- based information.  Users can enter an

         18  address into the application and view a map

         19  containing that address and the immediate

         20  surrounding area.

         21                 In addition to indicating the

         22  specific building requested and providing links to

         23  all elected officials for that area, users can click

         24  on icons to add location information and links to

         25  nearby facilities like schools, day care centers,
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          2  senior centers, libraries, hospitals and lots more.

          3  This page also a single access point to many other

          4  location- based applications on NYC.GOV, such as

          5  online building information and census statistics

          6  for New York City.

          7                 Furthermore, in the very near future,

          8  we will be adding a new Interactive Park Map

          9  application to the Portal which will provide the

         10  public with maps of parks as well as additional park

         11  specific information, including press releases,

         12  photographs, upcoming events, information about

         13  historical signs, capital projects, and inspection

         14  data.

         15                 GIS information is also made

         16  available to the public through the widely used My

         17  Neighborhood Statistics application.  My

         18  Neighborhood Statistics allows New York City

         19  residents to determine how City agencies are

         20  performing in their community by viewing performance

         21  statistics by community board or police precinct

         22  derived from a user's input of an address or

         23  intersection.  Through My Neighborhood Statistics,

         24  users can search for performance information by

         25  thematic agency groupings; view multi- year
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          2  community and citywide comparisons; view color-

          3  shaded maps that allow for easy comparisons with

          4  other City locations; and read definitions for

          5  individual statistics.

          6                 The My Neighborhood Statistics

          7  application has become very popular with the public

          8  and DoITT continues to look for ways to improve its

          9  functionality and its usefulness.

         10                 While we continue to work toward

         11  improving the usefulness and accessibility of GIS

         12  data to the public, we are also mindful of the very

         13  real security concerns that we face whenever we

         14  agree to share this data with an outside entity.

         15                 Currently, NYCMap data is available

         16  to all city, state and federal governmental entities

         17  that enter into a licensing agreement.

         18                 DoITT also provides data to vendors,

         19  as long as they have a valid sub- licensing

         20  agreement with one of the licensed government

         21  entities.

         22                 Under the licensing agreement,

         23  licensees promise to use the data in certain ways.

         24  For example, licensees must treat all proprietary

         25  data as confidential, and cannot make the data
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          2  available on the internet; licensees must limit use

          3  of the data to their own "restricted use" PCs;

          4  licensees must also ensure that all users comply

          5  with the terms of the licensing agreement, and that

          6  they obtain our explicit consent before they enter

          7  into a sub licensing agreement.

          8                 We understand that some may view the

          9  licensing agreement's provisions as too restrictive;

         10  pointing to the fact that the data was compiled

         11  using public funds, and that much of the information

         12  is already accessible through various sources in the

         13  public domain.  While these arguments may have

         14  resonance with some, they are not comprehensive.

         15                 When working with GIS data, our

         16  overall goal is to find ways in which we can use the

         17  data to benefit the City of New York; including its

         18  residents, businesses and government.

         19                 Therefore, data is provided to

         20  entities working with the city, state or federal

         21  government on specific projects for the public good.

         22

         23                 Furthermore, we understand that a

         24  diligent person may be able to find much of the GIS

         25  information contained in NYCMap through other
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          2  sources.  However, we feel it would be unwise and

          3  potentially dangerous to remove controls that would

          4  make it easier for those with harmful intentions to

          5  acquire aggregated data.

          6                 We understand that other cities such

          7  as Boston and Philadelphia employ less restrictive

          8  policies than ours; however, it is important to note

          9  that New York City is unique, both in the

         10  specificity of its data contained within our

         11  basemap, and in the level of risk we operate under.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 I will now be wholly happy to answer

         14  any of your questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         16  much, and I appreciate your being here today.

         17                 I have a couple of questions but I

         18  want to just ask something.

         19                 When I go to the New York State site,

         20  for instance, what you see is an actual map.

         21                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It is very

         23  interesting to me, that in our district office on

         24  the West Side, the number one request after

         25  affordable housing which is always number one, the
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          2  number two is; maps.  People will come for anything.

          3    I mean, it could be a map of someplace they have

          4  never heard of.  They just want maps, and we have

          5  the City Planning map in the window, it is a

          6  storefront office, and I think if you charge

          7  everybody $100 for that, they would pay it.

          8                 MS. KAUNITZ:  I have one up in my

          9  office.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And I am just

         11  saying, it is fascinating to me because I think that

         12  they want to come and find out about rats or

         13  something; no, they want maps.

         14                 So when you go, just as an example,

         15  when you go to the New York State site you actually

         16  see a fuzzy version, for lack of a better word, of a

         17  map, and it is very exciting.  You know that you

         18  could zoom in, you have some sense that it is a

         19  place where information will be available.

         20                 I have great respect for my

         21  neighborhood, and for the Portal but when you go

         22  there, you see "put in your address", now if I am

         23  interested in finding out about Brooklyn but I am

         24  not quite sure of an address, it is just a different

         25  feeling.  As opposed to a map that you could say,
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          2  zoom in on Brooklyn, you may not know the address.

          3                 So, it is, I mean I am just saying

          4  from a lay person, I am certainly not the expert

          5  that you are, or that many of the people in the room

          6  are, but there is a feeling for the state which may

          7  not give much more information, and we can have that

          8  discussion that there is more information, and that

          9  you have a chance of looking someplace that might be

         10  more interesting.  It is back to that issue of the

         11  fascination with maps.

         12            So I just throw that out as something that

         13  might both satisfy your concern about security, and

         14  at the same time give the public a feeling that

         15  their public dollars that produced this incredible

         16  tool is available to them.  Because I am thinking

         17  now if I do not know, I want to find out about Red

         18  Hook but I do not really know the addresses there,

         19  would I have to find a friend in order to get that

         20  information where I would know her address.

         21                 So, is that something that you have

         22  thought about?

         23                 MS. KAUNITZ:  I think it is certainly

         24  something we can think about.  I think the NYCMap

         25  Portal, the map portal that we put up this summer
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          2  was in response to some of that.

          3                 We, although, we have the My

          4  Neighborhood application, we felt that it does not

          5  show as much, it is not as clear, and people cannot

          6  just put on layers as they feel like it. We felt

          7  that coming to the map portal would give them a lot

          8  more flexibility.  But, we certainly can look into

          9  adding an application that allows people to put in a

         10  borough.

         11                 One of the reasons that we did not do

         12  this on this application was we, as you know, on the

         13  left hand side of that you can link directly to

         14  other applications with address specific

         15  information, and that would be difficult in borough

         16  but we might think about a separate application that

         17  would just show them a borough area, for instance.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         19                 MS. KAUNITZ:  So, that is something

         20  that we certainly could think of.

         21                 In terms of New York State and what

         22  they show, I have to tell you that actually coming

         23  up this coming week, New York State SEASICK

         24  (phonetic) is looking again at the sharing policy,

         25  and I am part of that committee.  I am on the
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          2  coordinating committee, and I am on the specific

          3  committee to re- look at the sharing policy and

          4  apparently, there are a lot of New York State

          5  counties that are a little concerned with the way

          6  the current policy is on the New York State.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Would it

          8  be possible even as I indicated as a challenge, to

          9  put on the website what the policy of New York City

         10  is, in other words, maybe why you have less

         11  information or not even phrase it that way because

         12  your My Neighborhood in the Portal are very

         13  extensive when you actually go there to get

         14  information, it is just how it is viewed is hard, I

         15  think.  But the fact that the information is there,

         16  and to have some kind of web map policy listed in

         17  some kind of way so that people understand why what

         18  is available is available, is that something that

         19  you could think about?

         20                 I think people are wondering- I only

         21  know because I am on the GISMO list serve, and you

         22  get- there are just hundreds of questions, it is a

         23  wonderful way that people can share information but

         24  I just thought it might make it a little bit clearer

         25  as to what the policy is.
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          2                 MS. KAUNITZ:  One, I think most

          3  people who I deal with know the policy, most of the

          4  vendors do also.  But we do not have- truthfully the

          5  City does not have all its policies on line but we

          6  will take a look at the possibility of adding some

          7  kind of policy.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, okay, what

          9  is the thought in terms of, is there information

         10  that you have in terms- I know you are adding the

         11  parks and some of the other types of information?

         12  How does that get determined?

         13                 Is it something when the agencies

         14  have their listings?

         15                 How do you, kind of, add- what is the

         16  policy on that again that is not something that you

         17  have to tell the public, in terms of it is not a big

         18  deal?

         19                 How do you add more information?

         20                 MS. KAUNITZ:  It is really a

         21  combination.

         22                 There are agencies that come to us

         23  and say they want an application.  We now host many

         24  of the- or we are starting to host many more of the

         25  GIS applications on our own infrastructure, and many
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          2  of them come to us.

          3                 City Planning has several

          4  applications that they have put on there, that they

          5  had come to us and said, "we want to put up these

          6  applications."  They created them, and we helped

          7  them put them up on the website.

          8                 Parks is the same way.  Parks

          9  recently put up a wood collection, debris collection

         10  application.  They came to us, they said they needed

         11  it up, and we worked with them to get it up online.

         12                 It often comes from the agency, and

         13  sometimes we are not completely involved- they may

         14  host it elsewhere.  For instance, the New York City

         15  Map Portal is something that we internally decided

         16  was going to be good service for the public.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         18                 MS. KAUNITZ:  As I said, we added to

         19  that portal links to so many of the others that we

         20  did not necessarily create, that other agencies may

         21  have created, but we felt would add to what the

         22  public can learn from this one page.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, and now

         24  vendors, I had the experience of working so many

         25  years ago for the Housing Authority for a vendor,
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          2  Hope Six of course is a big housing authority,

          3  nationally programmed, this vendor was a national

          4  vendor that assisted the Housing Authority in

          5  spending their many dollars. I am not sure even that

          6  company needed to be doing all that but in any case,

          7  they were hired by the Housing Authority, and I will

          8  never forget, this was in the 90's, late 80's, so

          9  there was a pre- GIS I would say, certainly public

         10  GIS, and the fact of the matter is that tons of

         11  overlapping reports are done.  I am sure you are

         12  very familiar because you have been in government

         13  for a while. Now, when a company like that, and I

         14  was thinking to myself, goodness, hopefully this

         15  does not happen today because you have many vendors

         16  in the City of New York, not just providing direct

         17  service, like a foster care agency but those who are

         18  doing planning or assisting in the planning.

         19                 How do they access information?  In

         20  other words, hopefully they do not start creating

         21  any of their own maps.  They hopefully work with you

         22  as you indicated in your testimony.  How does that

         23  work in terms of the licensing agreements, or do

         24  they go through you?  Do they go through your

         25  counsel?  How does the myriad of agencies who hire
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          2  contractors, how do they make sure that they are

          3  not, in a sense, we as taxpayers paying them to do a

          4  map that then get used?

          5                 MS. KAUNITZ:  I guess I have a couple

          6  of answers there, a couple of pieces that are

          7  interesting.

          8                 One, internally we have a GIS user

          9  group that, up to now, has been meeting about every

         10  six months, but we are upping that to quarterly, and

         11  one of the things that we hope to have come out at

         12  these meetings, and actually did at our last meeting

         13  this past week was what agencies are working on what

         14  kind of applications and, so that there is no

         15  duplication.

         16                 In fact, that issue did come up at

         17  this past weeks GIS user meeting.  There was one

         18  agency working on bike paths, and another agency was

         19  already doing that.  I said, "hey, wait a minute, we

         20  are already doing that."  So that I think is a good

         21  vehicle for the agency people, and we have a long

         22  list of agencies. We had, I guess, about 55 people

         23  from different agencies at the meeting this past

         24  week; standing room only.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All of your
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          2  meetings are standing room only.

          3                 MS. KAUNITZ:  So that is one way.

          4                 In terms of getting our data, vendors

          5  cannot get our data unless they sign a sub- license

          6  agreement.  The license agreement is with the

          7  agency.  The agency tells us on the license

          8  agreement what they expect to be done with the data,

          9  and so we know what project they are working on.

         10                 So, we have an idea of what all the

         11  agencies are doing with it, and can kind of say,

         12   "hey, wait a minute, there is somebody else working

         13  on this."

         14                 It is not a perfect system but it

         15  certainly does help because all of it does come

         16  through us.  All the data requests come through us,

         17  the licensing agreements are something I sign so I

         18  read them directly myself.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, so

         20  basically a vendor would have to show the agency,

         21  and then the agency and the vendor would show you

         22  that that information was needed for their project?

         23                 MS. KAUNITZ:  That is correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         25                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Often, I sometime get
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          2  calls from vendors or we have a special e- mail

          3  address that vendors can send requests for data to,

          4  and I tell them I need the request for the agency so

          5  I know that the agency- so we know exactly what is

          6  being done, and so that the license and sub-

          7  licenses are signed by both.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, I do not

          9  know if that is true for Massachusetts and Boston,

         10  or the State of New York because, obviously, if

         11  there was more information publicly available, then

         12  it might be less time consuming on you.  On the

         13  other hand, they still might need more information

         14  to do their project than was publicly available.

         15  So, I understand there is a Catch- 22 there.

         16                 MS. KAUNITZ:  That usually is true

         17  when a vendor is working with an agency, they may be

         18  requesting things that, underground information,

         19  that we might have that would never be released to

         20  anybody.  So, yes.

         21                 But as I say, New York State is re-

         22  looking at their polices also, so, it kind of shows

         23  you that we are not the only ones concerned about

         24  giving out this data freely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, is there
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          2  some way do you think that maybe after your state

          3  discussion that the city map might be more readable,

          4  without compromising security.  I mean, are those

          5  some of the discussions that you have internally in

          6  trying to think of ways.

          7                 I know you have done as much as you

          8  think you can do, but do you think there are ways

          9  that, perhaps, could be looked at more than has been

         10  in the past?

         11                 MS. KAUNITZ:  In terms of sharing the

         12  data itself, probably not.

         13                 In terms of making more available on

         14  line, on NYC.GOV, we are constantly looking at

         15  things that we can do that would help the public,

         16  that the public is interested in, that vendors might

         17  be able to use.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, because I

         19  mean I just also think it is like everything else,

         20  that the more that is there could, even for those

         21  vendors who do not need underground materials, so on

         22  and so forth, that would save you some time.

         23                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Yes, and we see I mean

         24  even on the NYCMap Portal, the map portal on

         25  NYC.GOV, the usage is going up tremendously as
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          2  people realize it is there.  In fact this past week

          3  on Channel 7 News, this guy Steve who does the

          4  technology report was reviewing NYC.GOV and said the

          5  best thing on it was the NYCMap.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The Portal,

          7  okay, congratulations.

          8                 All right, and then just finally what

          9  are some of the costs of doing all of this, in other

         10  words, obviously it is time.

         11                 Is there any other cost, I mean I

         12  think obviously, I believe the more that is

         13  available, the less cost, as long as it is secure

         14  but one of the issues would be the upkeep of data?

         15                 How is that done?  Is that done by

         16  the agencies that put the data up there?

         17                 How is the update done?

         18                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Some of the data layers

         19  are agency specific data layers, other ones are ones

         20  that we keep updated, and we try to work with 311,

         21  and then the portal to try to keep them all the

         22  same.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, so it is

         24  basically- since this is a new project in terms of

         25  providing all of this data, there is done sometimes
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          2  through whatever the agencies keep you updated, and

          3  then you post it kind of thing?

          4                 I am just curious about how is it

          5  done, on a

          6  regular basis?

          7                 MS. KAUNITZ:  I guess the answer to

          8  that is agencies keep their data up to date within.

          9                 More and more, there is a lot more

         10  sharable.  We recently created an internet site for

         11  agencies to be able to download data, and slowly but

         12  surely we are going to be, hopefully, adding more

         13  data, data layers, from other agencies.

         14                 We already have NYCMap and our

         15  planimetric data available to agencies for their

         16  direct download, which does take some resource usage

         17  away from us, which is good.

         18                 We recently added Parks data, and we

         19  are hoping to add lots more to that.  Much of these

         20  data layers are not owned by DoITT, they are owned

         21  by the agencies, and they control who can and cannot

         22  use them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, the issue

         24  of layers such as curb lines, and building

         25  footprints, and water bodies and rooftops and
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          2  underground, those are issues that you would

          3  consider too sensitive, or are some of them able to

          4  be put up on the map?

          5                 MS. KAUNITZ:  At this time, we feel

          6  that all the data is, we should not make it

          7  available on the map.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, all right.

          9                 MS. KAUNITZ:  I think you probably

         10  know, in terms of New York State, they actually blur

         11  out some sensitive places, which only makes them

         12  more obvious.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, all right,

         14  I mean these are questions that the public is asking

         15  about, as you know, and I just think that hopefully

         16  at your standing room only meetings, that you could

         17  have more discussion about it because the fact of

         18  the matter is that it does seem that other maps are

         19  making this material available.

         20                 Now, you could argue that in the

         21  state discussions, this may change as a policy but I

         22  am hoping that you could reconsider some of this

         23  discussion, again, blurring out in a very real way,

         24  like really blurred out, anything that you consider

         25  sensitive.
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          2                 It does seem to me that there could

          3  be an even more of a median, and I am just trying to

          4  represent the public here because there is a lot of

          5  interest.  I think you should be, certainly,

          6  congratulated particularly on the neighborhood

          7  portion which was an early, early pioneer, so to

          8  speak, in the GIS world of providing information.

          9                 Just like everything else, it is

         10  moving fast, and there is a lot of interest in

         11  trying to make sure that the public has access.  I

         12  think, definitely for the non- GIS aficionados, the

         13  fact that a larger map could be seen because even in

         14  the portal, you know I loved the green that you used

         15  there, it is really cool, the colors are great.  It

         16  is still a portion, you know, you are still going to

         17  a portion, and so if you were able to see the five

         18  boroughs with your fly over, with some kind of

         19  something that was very map looking as opposed to

         20  the GIS looking, I think you would find that people

         21  would gravitate toward it, and feel better about it.

         22    That is more hype than actual usage but I think it

         23  would help in terms of showing people that you are

         24  making a lot more material available.

         25                 MS. KAUNITZ:  We are constantly

                                                            34

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  looking at other ways to make things --.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, all right,

          4  well this is an ongoing discussion and we thank you

          5  very much for joining us today.

          6                 Thank you both.

          7                 MS. KAUNITZ:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Our next panel

          9  is Al Leidner and Gary Ostroff.

         10                 Good morning, very nice to have you

         11  here.

         12                 Please introduce yourself, and begin

         13  you testimony. Thank you very much for joining us.

         14                 MR. LEIDNER:  My name is Alan

         15  Leidner.  I am here representing myself, and I am on

         16  my own time so I wanted to make that clear up front.

         17                 I want to thank you, Councilwoman

         18  Brewer, for holding a hearing on this critical

         19  subject.

         20                 I want to also thank Marsha Kaunitz

         21  for making a terrific statement, which now, it does

         22  not obligate me to read the first two pages of my

         23  testimony so we can cut to the chase a lot faster.

         24                 Although, I will say up front that

         25  the reason that there is such a fuss about
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          2  geographic information systems and the alignment of

          3  data is because it brings enormous power, leverages

          4  enormous power of data, of valuable data to be used

          5  for countless uses.  Uses not only in City

          6  government, and federal and state government but

          7  also in the private sector and the public sector,

          8  the non- profit sector as well.  So this data power,

          9  this technology power has enormous potential, a lot

         10  of it is being tapped but a lot of it now is sort of

         11  a little pent up, and everything that can be done to

         12  release as much of that as possible, I think, should

         13  be done.

         14                 With that, I will get into my

         15  testimony, which really recounts, during my time in

         16  city government, and as Director of GIS, some of the

         17  efforts we made to look at the problem of security

         18  and the release of data.

         19                 As NYCMap was being completed prior

         20  to 9/11, there was serious concern even then about

         21  the City's spacial information getting into the

         22  wrong hands, whether terrorists, criminals or

         23  industrial spies.

         24                 An NYC/GIS security committee was set

         25  up including representatives of law enforcement and
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          2  public safety agencies. After a number of

          3  contentious meetings, and they were contentious, it

          4  was generally, if reluctantly, agreed that

          5  information that was visible to people walking in

          6  the streets or looking out their windows, was safer

          7  to release than data that was not.  It was also

          8  agreed that the information depicted underground,

          9  and within concealed infrastructure and building

         10  interiors would not be made available.

         11                 It was agreed that NYCMap would be

         12  distributed to government agencies and their

         13  contractors, and to other organizations such a

         14  universities, under the terms of a strict licensing

         15  agreement which was, by the way, based on City

         16  Planning's Licensing agreement, and then adapted at

         17  a cost of about $200 per set of data.

         18                 NYCMap's one foot imagery was allowed

         19  to be used by a consortium of government agencies in

         20  the OASIS/NYC application that was developed by C-

         21  Map for these governments.  However, the data did

         22  not contain X/Y coordinates and could not be

         23  downloaded, thereby limiting its usability and also

         24  its risk.

         25                 The City also began to expose
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          2  selected layers of the NYCMap through applications

          3  such as OEM's- Office of Emergency Management-

          4  EMOL's Project, which is Emergency On Line system,

          5  and was planning at that point the development of

          6  what was then called Everyone Map, is now has become

          7  the Map Portal, an excellent improvement, I might

          8  say, over the original application.

          9                 Again, NYCMap layers were not made

         10  available to the general public because of security

         11  concerns, fears that individuals would use the data

         12  for commercial profit, fear that the data might be

         13  altered and misrepresented, and concern about the

         14  logistics of copying and packaging and distributing

         15  the data when there was no staff or resources

         16  devoted to that at all.

         17                 Continuing policy discussions about

         18  more widespread distribution of NYCMap were rendered

         19  mute by 9/11, which forced us to reexamine the harm

         20  that might be done if the City's detailed spacial

         21  data got into the hands of terrorists, especially

         22  anonymously over the web, so that someone in a cave

         23  in Afghanistan could be downloading valuable data,

         24  and that was really something that scared the pants

         25  off of all of us.
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          2                 To deal with this issue, there were

          3  meetings held with federal and city and state public

          4  safety managers.  Eventually the Rand Corporation,

          5  under contract with a national Geospatial Agency

          6  (NGA), Geospatial Intelligence Agency, prepared an

          7  assessment of public data risks entitled, "Mapping

          8  the Risks." Rand's focus is predominantly on federal

          9  websites.

         10                 Rand found that geospatial

         11  information that might be useful to terrorists would

         12  show building and infrastructure that was hidden

         13  from public view, provide accurate coordinates, or

         14  show facility vulnerabilities.  In fact, all those

         15  features that we had identified earlier, prior to

         16  9/11, were mentioned in the Rand study.  In fact, we

         17  collaborated a little bit, as we were allowed, only

         18  minor interaction there.  We gave them whatever

         19  information we had prior to their publication.

         20                 Rand found that geospatial

         21  information might be useful to terrorists, would

         22  show accurate coordinates and show vulnerabilities.

         23  Rand concluded that the vast majority, 94 percent,

         24  of federal data on the web that was examined either;

         25  would not provide terrorists with useful data or is
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          2  available from alternative sites and sources, so

          3  that removing it from a federal site would not stop

          4  access.

          5                 However, what they did not really

          6  talk about was the well established federal security

          7  levels that were already screening lots and lots of

          8  data before they even ever came to the web.  Of

          9  course, state and local governments do not have that

         10  kind of security screening on their data at all in

         11  any established or systematic way.

         12                 By Rands' own admission, its reported

         13  does not deal with large scale or very detailed

         14  state and local data, including building interiors

         15  and underground infrastructure.  Nor does it deal

         16  with the power of data combinations made possible by

         17  a common spacial alignment.  Rand openly

         18  acknowledges the limits of its report, and

         19  recommends at least ten times in the body of its

         20  study that further research is necessary.  However,

         21  funding is yet to be made available for Rand to

         22  continue this work.

         23                 Nevertheless, Rands admittedly

         24  limited study is being used as the rational to urge

         25  local governments to make their data available.
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          2  They are in some cases- federal agencies are waving

          3  this book around and saying, "give us your data, we

          4  want to expose it on the web."  This is an obvious

          5  mistake, and it is essential that the City come to

          6  its own conclusions about what is safe for release

          7  and what is not.

          8                 Weighing on the side of release is

          9  the fact that detailed geospatial data, especially

         10  when used in strategic combinations, can be very

         11  useful when placed in the public domain. It can

         12  provide important information to citizens and

         13  community groups, and can provide profit and non-

         14  profit organizations with resources to create value

         15  and economic opportunity.

         16                 It is, therefore, in New York City's

         17  best interest to make available as much information

         18  as possible as long as it does not compromise

         19  security, and increase our vulnerability.

         20                 Economic segments that could benefit

         21  from detailed geospatial data include real estate,

         22  utilities, transportation, engineering, marketing,

         23  insurance, construction, planning, architecture,

         24  manufacturing, banking, and financial services.

         25                 So, it is a lot of folks, and not
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          2  just on the web viewing.  We are talking about

          3  actually handling the data, analyzing the data,

          4  modeling the data; all of these have very real

          5  economic benefits to the wide swath of public and

          6  private sector enterprise throughout the City.

          7                 What is safe and what is not safe to

          8  release has been discussed for the three and a half

          9  years since 9/11.

         10                 City Planning currently allows line

         11  to be downloaded from its website, and can be

         12  purchased from anyone, and is making available, I

         13  believe and I could be corrected on this, a

         14  Microsoft compatible version of the geo support

         15  system.

         16                 DoITT through EVERYONE MAP and now

         17  the map portal, allows the public to view curb line,

         18  maybe not curb line, building footprint and other

         19  feature data on line.  The City has to this point,

         20  withheld recent aerial imagery with a resolution of

         21  six inches.  The City has also with held

         22  infrastructure layers from the public, yet, clearly

         23  there are many individuals who would like this

         24  information released, or at least, made useable

         25  because, again, there are highly valuable business
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          2  uses for it.

          3                 I would suggest the following.

          4                 The City should provide funding to

          5  GISMO to organize an outreach effort to all non-

          6  government organizations to determine what are the

          7  economic and social applications that require

          8  spacial information, and exactly what layers, and at

          9  what resolution those layers would be useful at.

         10                 In many instances, the data required

         11  for these uses is probably available today, and

         12  GISMO can be helpful in bringing the data to users

         13  in ways that perhaps the City cannot.  Where some

         14  data is now restricted, it might be possible to

         15  release smaller scale or less detailed versions of

         16  that data, and still meet the majority of business

         17  requirements.

         18                 Two; for data identified as useful,

         19  or very useful, but which falls into a category

         20  deemed risky to be made public because it contains

         21  detailed interior and infrastructure information,

         22  the City might study several options.  The licensing

         23  of data to responsible parties who could also

         24  demonstrate the capacity for keeping the data

         25  secure, and allowing the viewing of the data in a
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          2  supervised environment by individuals who pass

          3  security clearances.  That would be for the most

          4  sensitive infrastructure data but, yet, it is very

          5  important in the construction industry and in

          6  utilities, that this underground matrix of

          7  facilities be exposed and looked at so that you do

          8  not get the interferences and the varies mistakes

          9  and errors that can happen that really can have a

         10  life- effecting effect on a neighborhood and on a

         11  project.

         12                 It should be noted that Hunter

         13  College, which assists the City in the development

         14  and maintenance of NYCMap data, has itself created

         15  such a secure environment for its Carsie Map

         16  (phonetic).

         17                 Three; the City, using a specially

         18  selected security consultant, should study risks

         19  posed by combinations of data, which are only going

         20  to increase in possibility as the GIS (tape

         21  changed), even if none of the individual layers by

         22  themselves poses a threat, we still do not know

         23  whether combinations of safe data might then rise to

         24  a level of, in fact, posing a risk.  So, that has

         25  not been studied by anybody, and I think we owe it
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          2  ourselves to start to look at that.

          3                 By finding safe ways to make the

          4  City's geospatial data available, the full benefits

          5  of GIS can be brought to the City's citizens

          6  organizations and businesses without jeopardizing

          7  our security.  But, we have to make the decisions

          8  ourselves.  New York is a special case, as Marsha

          9  noted in this matter.  No one knows our risks better

         10  than we do, and no one knows our data better than we

         11  do.  New York City's GIS utilities not only world

         12  class but world leading.  We must be the ones to

         13  take responsibility for its use and protection.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         15  much Al Leidner.

         16                 Gary Ostroff, do you want to speak

         17  also?

         18                 MR. OSTROFF:  I will speak now, or

         19  you can ask questions first.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Go right ahead,

         21  no, go ahead.

         22                 Introduce yourself, I know who you

         23  are.

         24                 MR. OSTROFF:  My name is Gary

         25  Ostroff.
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          2                 I am a Senior Project Manager with

          3  HydroQual Incorporated, and the Vice President of

          4  Community Cartography, which is an affiliated

          5  enterprise.

          6                 I would like to address my remarks to

          7  discussing the costs and benefits of releasing the

          8  NYCMap, and to try and put this into a broader

          9  context.

         10                 First, I want to emphasize again how

         11  important the NYCMap is as a base, and I want to do

         12  that with a simple example. When you walk around the

         13  City, if you look at the sidewalk you will

         14  occasionally notice a brass marker in the cement

         15  with some notations and numbers on it.  These are

         16  benchmarks set up by the United States Geological

         17  Survey, and they indicate positions that have been

         18  surveyed to tremendous accuracy and precision. These

         19  are public; surveyors, engineers know about all

         20  these benchmarks, and they have many of their own,

         21  and they even create some of their own which they do

         22  not make public but they are all based, or tied, to

         23  these benchmarks.

         24                 Because these marks have been created

         25  and are publicly available, when two surveyors go
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          2  out to do an independent survey of two pieces of

          3  property which may be adjacent, when you take their

          4  maps and put them together, they will match.       If

          5  they both went out and created their own benchmarks

          6  to start with, they would not match perfectly, and

          7  gradually errors would creep into aggregated maps.

          8  There would be holes and gaps, and it would be an

          9  incredible nightmare.

         10                 It is kind of like what would happen

         11  if the United States had not agreed to use one gauge

         12  for its railroad tracks. You would have a hodge

         13  podge, and a mismatch.

         14                 That in a nutshell is the tremendous

         15  power of the base map.  It is not so much even that

         16  it is accurate but that is consistent, and a

         17  standard.  And again, these benchmarks are public.

         18  The availability of a basemap catalyzes all sorts of

         19  activity.

         20                 The wonderful things that DoITT is

         21  doing now, and I think their portal is indeed world

         22  class and is what New York City should have, is only

         23  possible because the basemap came into existence.

         24                 By not making the basemap available

         25  to the general public and vendors and non- profit
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          2  groups, you are effectively imposing a cost on all

          3  of these groups.  They must go out and buy their own

          4  data, or create their own base data, and then they

          5  suffer the consequences of not having a standard

          6  which allows them to interchange data with other

          7  groups because they may all be using a different

          8  base from which they start.

          9                 One of the most lamentable examples

         10  of this way of doing things is just to look at the

         11  New York City's DEP's water main mapping project,

         12  which was begun before the NYCMap existed. That

         13  project has been delayed and suffered a lot of cost

         14  overruns because it was not originally mapped onto a

         15  stable and standard base.  So, that was a tremendous

         16  cost, and the City quite rightly, the DEP quite

         17  rightly, decided to create its own base map so that

         18  that would not happen again.

         19                 So, I think the utility and the

         20  importance of the base map is fairly clear but I

         21  think it is not always so clear why the base map

         22  should be free.  And when I say free, I mean

         23  monetarily free, or at the most a trivial cost.  I

         24  think even the cost that DCP charges now for the

         25  COAGES Map (phonetic) is beyond what it should be,
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          2  although they have made tremendous progress in

          3  disseminating their data in a more reasonable way.

          4                 Quite simply, we live in a democracy

          5  and the government has no business to collect

          6  information which it does not have a specific need

          7  for, and if it does collect this information, it is

          8  doing it in the service of the public, and that

          9  information then does belong to the public.

         10                 Other countries have other systems of

         11  government, state secrets acts and that sort of

         12  thing.  We do not have that here, and that is one of

         13  our great strengths.

         14                 So, without a clear justification for

         15  why the information should be freely available to

         16  the public, it should be. The presumption is that it

         17  should be, and I have not yet heard any specific

         18  indication of any security threat about specific

         19  layers that people most want, and I am speaking of

         20  the curb lines, the center lines with the street

         21  names, the building footprints, the open spaces, the

         22  names of parks, and the aerial photos.

         23                 You notice I did not mention

         24  transportation structures, which is the layer that

         25  is available on NYCMap because I can see that,
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          2  perhaps, the accurate mapping of bridges, and

          3  abutments and tunnels and that sort of thing would

          4  be a security threat.  But those other layers that I

          5  have mentioned, are of tremendous importance to the

          6  vast majority of GIS users and developers, and I can

          7  see no reason, and have heard no reason why they

          8  alone present any sort of security threat,

          9  especially since, as it has been repeatedly stated,

         10  that data is available in a wide variety of sources.

         11                 You mentioned, Madam Chairman, the

         12  excitement that people feel about maps, just seeing

         13  maps, and as someone who is a professional in the

         14  field of mapping and engineering, I feel that very

         15  strongly and by having a monopoly on this base map,

         16  the City is effectively denying that excitement and

         17  productivity to large numbers of people.

         18                 Why should school children not have

         19  PC programs with the complete NYCMap so that they

         20  can create maps of their neighborhoods?

         21                 Why should any private citizens be

         22  denied the ability to create an accurate map of his

         23  neighborhood or city for whatever purpose he has in

         24  mind?

         25                 I mean, it is a tremendously
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          2  liberating thing, and aside from the aesthetic and

          3  educational value, it is also a wealth creator.  As

          4  I said, and as other people have mentioned, the base

          5  map is itself a catalyst for activity.  Things

          6  become possible when you have that starting point.

          7                 That is why the United States

          8  Geological Survey after the Civil War undertook the

          9  massive mapping effort for the continental United

         10  States.  A professor of mine referred to this as the

         11  greatest cartographic feat in history, and those

         12  maps are now available at any camping store for

         13  about $3.50, and the digital versions are available

         14  free on the web.  That, if you think back to the

         15  days before GIS, those were the only base maps that

         16  were available for the whole country uniformly, and

         17  they, if you look through any old engineering report

         18  or planning report, you will see them reproduced

         19  endlessly.  That is how important they were, and

         20  that is how important the NYCMap is today.

         21                 There should not be a monopoly on the

         22  holding of that data.  I mean, DoITT is providing it

         23  over the web but they are not providing the access

         24  so that individuals can use that data for their own

         25  purposes, commercial, or educational, or non- profit

                                                            51

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  research, and it is a tremendous break on

          3  innovation.  There is a great deal of technology

          4  available now that makes it possible to easily and

          5  very cheaply distribute data and provide basic

          6  functionality at all levels; for everything from

          7  kindergarten children up to managerial people who

          8  may be non- technical.  All of these things are

          9  frustrated by the lack of that starting base map.

         10                 Finally, I think aside from being

         11  free, it should be freely available.  That is, I do

         12  not believe there is any justification for this sort

         13  of restriction through a license.  I can understand

         14  keeping track of people who request the data, that

         15  is; require them to do a nominal license but I do

         16  not understand any sort of restriction on this basic

         17  data that I have been talking about.

         18                 There is much discussion of aerial

         19  photography, as a professional in the GIS field I

         20  have to say that aerial photography is very exciting

         21  to look at but its usefulness is, I think, vastly

         22  overrated.  People quickly learn the value of a map

         23  is that is shows you less than an aerial photograph

         24  shows you, and therefore, it means more.

         25                 However, if it is felt that the six
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          2  inch pixels which are now available from DoITT are

          3  too sensitive, I am certain that a three foot pixel,

          4  which would provide a more blurred vision of the

          5  City in color photography, would not be so

          6  sensitive, and would certainly satisfy the needs of

          7  people who want to make a dramatic backdrop to their

          8  cartographic presentations.

          9                 There are a tremendous number of non-

         10  profit organizations, university organizations that

         11  would like to do research, produce applications,

         12  develop websites that would directly benefit people

         13  in the City, and probably, directly benefit members

         14  of the city government, and they cannot now do this

         15  because they cannot get the base map because they do

         16  not have a contract with the City.

         17                 I believe that restricting the base

         18  map in the way that it is now restricted, is unfair

         19  to potential bidders; those people who have

         20  contracts with the City, have availability, have

         21  access to the data can become familiar with it and

         22  its uses, can use it to produce examples, this gives

         23  them a leg up on getting more business with the

         24  City.

         25                 To some extent, this is the
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          2  inevitable problem of procurement for a government

          3  agency, those people who are "in the loop" have a

          4  better chance of staying in the loop.  But this

          5  unnecessarily exacerbates it, I think that it should

          6  be freely available so that vendors can acquaint

          7  themselves with the data and then pursue City work

          8  that would require the use of that data.

          9                 Finally, I want to come back again to

         10  issue of security, and just emphasize again that the

         11  benefits of distributing this freely and at minimal

         12  cost, are tremendous and that has to be weighed

         13  against the security threat.  And again, the

         14  security threat cannot be a vague potential future

         15  possibility.  It must be something that is

         16  constructed in a fairly rational and comprehensive

         17  way, and otherwise, you have license to restrict

         18  everything, and there are governments that do that,

         19  and it is not what we do here fortunately.

         20                 I think that the base layers that I

         21  have been discussing here, and that most people want

         22  for the vast majority of their applications are

         23  really quite uncontroversial, and not sensitive and

         24  I would very much like to hear a concrete example of

         25  why that is not true.  Failing that, I think the
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          2  concern should just be studied continuously but in

          3  the meantime, the data should be made available at a

          4  minimal cost, and as easily and freely distributed

          5  as possible.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you both

          7  very much.

          8                 When Mr. Leidner talks about the

          9  above ground, which is for persons like me, it is

         10  something visual so I can understand what you mean

         11  by that.

         12                 Are there other maps from your vast

         13  experience, between the both of you, that provide

         14  that, in other words, is that one of the sort of cut

         15  offs that you think is used?

         16                 Now, I know that New York City is

         17  much more of a target, we all know that, we do not

         18  need to be told that than any other state.  But the

         19  fact of the matter is, is that kind of from your

         20  experience what is used in other locations so that

         21  that is how they think about the security?

         22                 Now, I know that representatives of

         23  DoITT mentioned earlier that there is some

         24  rethinking of some of this but up until now, was

         25  that kind of how you think other states or cities
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          2  looked at providing a map, those that have a base

          3  map?

          4                 Was it the definition that you used

          5  in your testimony, Mr. Leidner?

          6                 MR. LEIDNER:  I think that probably

          7  in terms of thinking about security concerns among

          8  municipal governments, New York was probably ahead

          9  of most others because we had experienced that

         10  attack, I think it was in 1993, the first World

         11  Trade Center attack, so, we knew we were under

         12  threat and we were also producing a world class GIS.

         13                 So I think the issue came to us

         14  sooner, and I also think that the distinction we

         15  made between what you could see walking down the

         16  street with your naked eye, and what was underground

         17  or concealed is a very natural one that other people

         18  have made in the past, and which people continue to

         19  make.  So, it is a good dividing line for folks.

         20                 In fact, when you talk about

         21  coordinates these days, which is something you

         22  cannot see with your eye but they are a useful part

         23  of the map.  And now with cell phones becoming

         24  ubiquitously equipped with GPS, I mean the

         25  coordinates are not going to be really hidden by
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          2  anyone.

          3                 I have to agree with what Gary said

          4  about you really have to make a case for security,

          5  and layer by layer by layer, because there is so

          6  much value and you do not want to preempt that value

          7  from being available.

          8                 There is a certain burden to make the

          9  case, and to engage in the communities of the city,

         10  and explain why this one but not that one, and I

         11  think that it does not infringe upon the City's

         12  ability to protect itself, but as Gary says, there

         13  has got to be a reason why that particular layer is

         14  considered dangerous and another layer not.

         15                 That exposure, I think, is a valuable

         16  process. Actually, what I am saying is that we need

         17  a process to start to examine this publicly and to

         18  get reasons for things.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I thought your

         20  suggestion of trying to get some funding so that we

         21  could do that was a good one, and I will certainly

         22  take that under consideration and see if we can do

         23  it.  That might be a way to proceed.

         24                 My other question is in terms of

         25  figuring out how, I just think from the City's
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          2  perspective that DoITT is constantly dealing with

          3  these licenses, it could only exasperate or increase

          4  in terms of the numbers of persons requesting, and

          5  certainly if more information is available for the

          6  real estate companies or others who are using the

          7  data, then the City would not have to be providing

          8  licensing agreements for those that are not even

          9  looking for any kind of secure information.

         10                 So, I am just wondering Mr. Ostroff,

         11  from your perspective how could the information be

         12  decided upon?  In other words, do you agree with Mr.

         13  Leidner that some kind of discussion as to what

         14  these non- secure layers might be?

         15                 Might that be a way to proceed?

         16                 Maybe along the idea of having some

         17  kind of a public discussion within GISMO?

         18                 MR. OSTROFF:  I think such a

         19  discussion would be appropriate for layers that I

         20  did not mention.

         21                 I do not think it is appropriate for

         22  the curb line layer, the street name layer, even the

         23  building footprint layer.

         24                 There is no restriction on the tax

         25  lot map, so, when you think about it, that is more
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          2  valuable to a potentially hostile person than the

          3  building map because that allows him to identify

          4  what is actually in the building by linking it to a

          5  tax lot record in the Department of Finance which is

          6  also available.  So, if he wants to for instance-

          7  well, I do not want to decimate ideas but if a

          8  person had a particular list of targets, that is how

          9  he would do it, and he does not even need the

         10  building footprints, so, it is hard for me to see

         11  why those layers that I discussed require any

         12  discussion now.

         13                 Other layers, certainly, on subway

         14  entrances, the transportation structures, perhaps

         15  some things related to the port facilities, and

         16  there may be layers that are being created now that

         17  I do not even know about.

         18                 I completely agree that subsurface

         19  layers should be issued only on a`need to know'

         20  basis.  But again, that is not the kind of material

         21  that the vast majority of public and private and

         22  non- profit and educational groups are interested

         23  in.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, in terms

         25  of some of the business groups, I think maybe what
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          2  happens now is to hire Community Cartography or

          3  somebody else to put together a map that they then,

          4  if they are doing business in the City, charge their

          5  client for, whereas where if it was available

          6  publicly, then they could just access it.

          7                 How does a real estate company now

          8  that is interested in some kind of information, or

          9  it could be any company, that is not necessarily

         10  with a contract with the City, do you get such

         11  requests to try to put together some of this data?

         12                 MR. OSTROFF:  Yes, and I am in a

         13  curious position here that if the City adopts the

         14  policy of freely distributing the base map, it will

         15  to some extent cut into our markets, but probably

         16  expand others.

         17                 So typically, let us say a large real

         18  estate company comes to us and they want a map of

         19  Downtown, generally what they want is a paper map

         20  that they can print and reproduce, and because we

         21  have a license for the base map for a variety of

         22  projects that we have done with the City, we can do

         23  that and distribute the paper product to them with

         24  no restrictions.  The value we add is our tremendous

         25  high level of cartographic design.
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          2                 But there are real estate companies

          3  and other companies who have said to us, "we would

          4  really like to have an in house internet, or desktop

          5  application that allows us, for instance, to search

          6  for a property and see it, and gather data." And

          7  then we have to say to those people, "we can provide

          8  you with that application but not with the data to

          9  fill it out."  And there are various `work arounds'

         10  like degrading the base map into an image or that

         11  sort of thing but basically we just have to tell

         12  those people, "no, you cannot get what you would

         13  like, you have to apply to the City for a license,

         14  maybe they will give you one."

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, I very

         16  much appreciate your being here today.

         17                 You have some very specific

         18  suggestions, and we will certainly follow up.  We

         19  will not let this go away.

         20                 So, thank you both very, very much

         21  for making time to come here today.  Thank you,

         22  thank you.

         23                 MR. OSTROFF:  Thank you for having

         24  the hearing.

         25                 MR. LEIDNER:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, the next

          3  panel is Jack Eichenbaum, Mannix Gordon and Micaela

          4  Birmingham.

          5                 Good morning, thank you very much.

          6                 Who would like to begin?

          7                 Mr. Eichenbaum.

          8                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  I am Jack

          9  Eichenbaum, and I am a coordinator of an

         10  organization called GISMO, which stands for

         11  Geographic Information Systems and Mapping

         12  Organizations, and it has been around for 15 years

         13  and it is open to anybody interested in GIS in the

         14  context of Greater New York and just come to our

         15  meetings.  They are free.

         16                 There is on the table to my left,

         17  there is a stack of information sheets about GISMO.

         18                 Let me first thank Council Member

         19  Brewer, not only for chairing these hearings but for

         20  being an energetic and interested GISMO member for

         21  about 10 years now already, and also to Analyst Lai

         22  for organizing a number of hearings on GIS in a very

         23  proficient fashion.

         24                 Thank you both very much.

         25                 My testimony supports the idea that
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          2  wider and wiser distribution of the NYCMap would

          3  benefit Greater New York City and its government.

          4                 Since the consolidation of Greater

          5  New York City and the creation of five boroughs in

          6  1898, there has been a phenomenal growth in

          7  government, and the tasks it is mandated to

          8  accomplish.              This has been accompanied

          9  by a proliferation of offices and agencies, each

         10  with its own mandates.  We trust that our City

         11  Council members and the Mayor and his Commissioners

         12  provide oversight, and guide the interaction between

         13  these many agencies.

         14                 For the most part, the technical

         15  staff, the people that do GIS, in individual

         16  agencies are not empowered to do this.

         17                 GIS technology is a great complement,

         18  very different from the hierarchical structure of

         19  city government.  GIS is a lateral technology, it

         20  brings people together from very different

         21  backgrounds.

         22                 Embedded in the nature of GIS is the

         23  ability to interrelate the information gathered by

         24  separate organizations. More subtly, and probably

         25  more importantly, it begins to interrelate the
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          2  people, interrelate the GIS practitioners who begin

          3  to see new interrelationships between the mandates

          4  of different agencies.

          5                 For almost 15 years, GIS personnel

          6  from different city agencies have informally met in

          7  GISMO, which I explained to you.

          8                 More recently they have met more

          9  formally as a steering committee under the auspices

         10  of DoITT, and that is what Ms. Kaunitz explained to

         11  you earlier, and in DoITT the NYCMap exists as a

         12  shared resource interrelating attribute data from

         13  different agencies.

         14                 There is a really interesting and

         15  subtle process going on there.  It began by giving

         16  NYCMap to the people in the different city agencies,

         17  but of course, not beyond that.  And with that,

         18  people started putting their own data, let us call

         19  that NYCdata, on the NYCMap, and depending on the

         20  way the NYCdata fell on the NYCMap, different people

         21  would come together in this place called DoITT from

         22  their different agencies and start talking to other

         23  people who had the same concerns and were doing the

         24  same things but maybe had differences in method or

         25  data.  A tremendously important process.
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          2                 So, here is the process; base map, in

          3  our case, NYCMap, attribute data, in our case

          4  NYCdata, technical interaction between people.  This

          5  widens intelligence and makes us wiser.

          6                 It just happened this week in a new

          7  dimension because Ms. Kaunitz started some work

          8  groups about things that are addressing problems,

          9  about sandborne (phonetic) problems, to bring people

         10  together from different agencies to intelligently

         11  discuss these problems.  You cannot do that from

         12  scratch but these people already know each other a

         13  little bit, and they have got common resources.  The

         14  process is well along the way but only within DoITT.

         15

         16                 The problems and potential of Greater

         17  New York are more than just the business of

         18  government.

         19                 Our non- profit, academic and

         20  business communities are just as involved, often

         21  from different and more speculative perspectives.

         22                 The NYCMap was more liberally

         23  distributed before 9/11.  One licensee was OASIS,

         24  produced by a non- profit called

         25  C- Map.  In this project, data relating to open
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          2  space from various public and private sources were

          3  assembled on the matrix of NYCMap. This shared

          4  resource suggested reforms of data bases and created

          5  its own multi- visioned sociology of open space

          6  problems.

          7                 The same process occurred between all

          8  the different people, public and private, who were

          9  using OASIS.  They are an organic entity that looks

         10  at open space problems because they have got shared

         11  data.  The same process; base map, attribute data,

         12  technical interaction.

         13                 I have been using their term Greater

         14  New York purposely.  Our five boroughs are not a

         15  closed system even if NYCMap temporarily is.

         16                 So many of our concerns: Health,

         17  economic development, transportation, tourism, and

         18  water quality also reside beyond our borders in

         19  surrounding towns, counties and states.  Our

         20  basemap, the NYCMap, is our passport, yes, sometimes

         21  you do need a passport when you leave the city, and

         22  we can bring this passport to regional research and

         23  problem solving.  We will need to find ways to make

         24  NYCMap and NYCdata similarly cross borders into

         25  other jurisdictions, and in order to do that we have
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          2  got to trade base maps with these other places.  We

          3  have to know what the base map of Great Neck is,

          4  what the base map of Yonkers and Jersey City and

          5  Perth Amboy are.  We also need to know what is going

          6  on in all that water that nobody maps.

          7                 This becomes the objective basis for

          8  regional cooperation and compromise that make our

          9  metropolis cohesive and competitive.  Base map;

         10  attribute data, technical interaction. That is the

         11  last time I am doing that.

         12                 I am retiring from civil service this

         13  year.  Twenty three years ago I began as a data

         14  collector.  At that time data distribution, that is,

         15  if anybody even knew that a database existed, data

         16  distribution was accomplished mostly by moving a

         17  mound of paper.

         18                 My career spans the computerization

         19  of many databases in my agency and their migration

         20  to personal computers In 1987, the first GIS

         21  software for personal computers became available and

         22  changed the way my unit did its work.  We quickly

         23  developed a need and a thirst for data from other

         24  agencies.

         25                 When I started GISMO in 1990,
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          2  facilitating this sharing process was a primary

          3  goal.  The steering committee that led to the

          4  establishment of our DoITT unit was compromised

          5  mostly of GISMO veterans.

          6                 Since then, GISMO has enlarged its

          7  scope and includes representation from all sectors

          8  of GIS practice in Greater New York.  I have no

          9  doubt that GISMO can again provide the backbone of a

         10  steering committee that can find ways to wisely

         11  distribute NYCMap to a wider public.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 We have been joined by Council Member

         16  Bill De Blasio from Brooklyn, who is a member of

         17  this committee.

         18                 Thank you for being such a loyal

         19  member, and he also chairs General Welfare, and I

         20  think if there was during the General Welfare

         21  Committee literally the ability to go online to show

         22  the NYCMap with every non- profit that was dealing

         23  with foster care or child care for that particular

         24  moment in a very easy fashion, and then within that

         25  data, within those maps, what exactly was going on
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          2  within those agencies, it would actually be a very

          3  exciting hearing.

          4                 So, we are talking today, Bill, more

          5  about what is publicly available, what could be

          6  publicly available without compromising security,

          7  and obviously, the City does have a wonderful portal

          8  and a wonderful`what is in my neighborhood' which

          9  you may have looked at once in a while online.

         10                 Anyway, Jack, thank you very much,

         11  not just for your testimony today but for all your

         12  years being the most creative in terms of bringing

         13  the public and city government together.

         14                 Mannix, go ahead.

         15                 MR. GORDON:  Hi, how are you doing?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I am doing fine.

         17                 MR. GORDON:  That is great, Council

         18  Member Brewer and Council Member De Blasio and

         19  colleagues.

         20                 My name is Mannix Gordon, and I am a

         21  planner at the Pratt Institute Center for Community

         22  and Environmental Development in Brooklyn, New York.

         23                 I am also a professor of Planning in

         24  the School of Architecture at Pratt Institute.

         25                 I did not want to read verbatim what
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          2  my testimony is but I would like to, kind of, go

          3  into a couple of the details that I think is near

          4  and dear to our heart at Pratt Institute.

          5                 I would like to say that a lot of

          6  things that Al and Gary and Jack have already said,

          7  I ditto those remarks in terms of making the base

          8  map accessible to a wide variety of people as much

          9  as possible, except for the sensitive data.

         10                 But at Pratt Institute, the reason

         11  why NYCMap and our work in providing technical

         12  assistance to community- based organizations and the

         13  community is so important is because the NYCMap is

         14  the best map.  It is the most accurate map.  There

         15  are other sources out there that we can use,

         16  including sources from the United States Census,

         17  from various sources like the state and that like

         18  but the NYCMap is the most accurate and the best.

         19                 In working with the base map and

         20  being able to be planners and look at infrastructure

         21  and where the building lie and where the open space

         22  is, that is very important.

         23                 It is funny that you should mention

         24  earlier the fact of how to provide better service

         25  provision to child care; one of our clients that we
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          2  worked with, the New York City Child Care, Resource

          3  and Referral Consortium, which is an umbrella

          4  organizations that provides technical assistance to

          5  other technical assistance providers that provide

          6  for child care was one of our clients that we worked

          7  with in providing a supply and demand map of child

          8  care around New York City.  It has been ongoing for

          9  the last couple of years.  One of the things that we

         10  wanted to do but we could not do for them was to

         11  provide an application that can enable their

         12  organization to see very detailed information about

         13  where providers are located using the best map

         14  possible, being the NYCMap and the NYCMap layers.

         15                 Pratt Institute has been a recipient,

         16  and I we are honored to say we have had many

         17  contracts with the City and it being a university,

         18  we have access to the base map but we also noted

         19  that there are a lot of people who do not have

         20  access to the base map, and we think that it should

         21  be ubiquitous, and as open as possible.

         22                 We understand the need for better

         23  homeland security and for citizen privacy, though it

         24  is not in our judgement the defining reason that

         25  DoITT should not share its planimetric data, at
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          2  least, with the public.

          3                 The fact that this similar

          4  information is available also at USGS as we have

          5  heard earlier, and DCP, the New York State GIS

          6  Clearing House and elsewhere just heightens the

          7  argument that publicizing the digital base map will

          8  not make the City any less safe.

          9                 We support increased data sharing,

         10  and greater public education and proliferation among

         11  all sectors.

         12                 We are sensitive to the fact that

         13  non- profit organizations, community groups and many

         14  academic institutions do not often share the

         15  resources of government and the private sector. We

         16  believe they can and should have access to data and

         17  government GIS applications and developments at zero

         18  or, at least, no cost.

         19                 And I would just like to end at that

         20  point.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MICAELA.

         25                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Good morning.
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          2                 My name is Micaela Birmingham, and I

          3  am the Director of the Planning Center at the

          4  Municipal Art Society.

          5                 I would like to thank the Committee

          6  on Technology in Government for inviting me to

          7  testify today, and for your continued ongoing

          8  support of the important issue of public access to

          9  information.

         10                 I am so glad that all of my

         11  colleagues today have been so thoughtful in their

         12  comments about the issues regarding access to

         13  information, a lot of which corresponds to high-

         14  end, sophisticated, highly skilled GIS technicians,

         15  vendors and consultants.

         16                 I thought I would, sort of, take a

         17  different approach and discuss some of the issues

         18  relating to access to this information for the

         19  regular person who is not so skilled, and does not,

         20  maybe, have the training and the software and

         21  equipment necessary to use the NYCMap in the ways

         22  that have already been described.

         23                 I will say that I definitely support

         24  all of the comments that have been said already, and

         25  the idea to encourage this dialog among the GIS
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          2  community is definitely something that we should do

          3  here.

          4                 Since 1989, the Planning Center has

          5  existed to promote and support community- based

          6  planning initiatives in New York City, and over the

          7  past four years in particular, we have provided

          8  technical assistance and training to community

          9  planning organizations seeking to utilize GIS

         10  information and technology to make more informed

         11  planning decisions.

         12                 It was, I guess, almost just a little

         13  over a year ago that you had the first hearing on

         14  this topic centered around how New York could

         15  leverage its investments in GIS technology. Since

         16  then, in particular, DoITT and the Department of

         17  City Planning have made really significant progress

         18  in the provision of GIS data to the public, via the

         19  internet.  As has been discussed, the map portal is

         20  definitely a ground breaking asset for everyone on

         21  NYC.GOV.

         22                 As well, DoITT Commissioner Menchini

         23  and Marsha Kaunitz and her staff have been very open

         24  and accessible to our organization and others, to

         25  have meetings and to discuss potential areas of
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          2  collaboration.  So, I thank them for that.

          3                 As well, the Department of City

          4  Planning has just added a link to its page one

          5  NYC.GOV/Planning, not only to the City's map portal

          6  and DCP's own address and census pages, but to a

          7  website created by NYPIRG's C- Map for us at the

          8  Municipal Art Society called MYCITI.ORG.

          9                 Visitors to the Department of City

         10  Planning's page can now enter an address and be

         11  taken directly to that address on a "myciti" map

         12  that shows property use and a range of other

         13  planning- related information.

         14                 Amanda Burden and her staff have

         15  recognized this as an important planning tool that

         16  should be made widely accessible to the public and

         17  also recently organized a presentation of this for

         18  the members of the City Planning Commission.

         19                 The goal of our effort, the Community

         20  Information Technology Initiative, from which

         21  MYCITI.ORG gets its name, is to demonstrate the

         22  utility of this technology as a effective tool for

         23  community- based planning, not for the Municipal Art

         24  Society to be hosting websites for every community

         25  board in New York in perpetuity.
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          2                 We surpassed our initial goal of

          3  training one community board in each borough to use

          4  this mapping website, despite the cynicism that

          5  there was no time, and there was no need, and there

          6  was no skill, and we now have a broad range of

          7  community boards, almost 13 or 14 of them have

          8  attended trainings, have established links on their

          9  own websites, as well as other users; city agencies,

         10  elected officials have all come to our training

         11  sessions and told us that this is a really valuable

         12  tool.

         13            We also train high school students in

         14  Bushwick, Brooklyn, for example, 200 of them, to

         15  matriculate maps of their own neighborhoods.  These

         16  students have been deployed into their own

         17  neighborhood community board offices to provide maps

         18  during meetings, during community board meetings,

         19  and if anyone here has ever been to one of those,

         20  you know that a map is something that is not always

         21  readily available.

         22                 So, we are very excited about these

         23  breakthroughs and the success of these efforts but

         24  we are a non- profit organization, and the

         25  collaborators that we work with to make this
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          2  possible are also non- profit organizations that

          3  must raise money to provide these services.  These

          4  are not guaranteed, these are things that the public

          5  has expressed as critical and important but, really,

          6  a lot of this we hope could be built into the

          7  infrastructure that the City is developing, and we

          8  hope to continue this dialogue, working with the

          9  Committee, with DoITT, and other City agencies to

         10  really talk more about this ongoing process of how

         11  to make the data available to the public in the most

         12  efficient, effective and secure way.

         13                 Thank you again for this opportunity.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         15  much. Unfortunately, what you have done at MAS is

         16  ironic, which is that you have created such eager

         17  beavers that now they are not happy with the data

         18  they have, and now they are complaining because it

         19  is not enough.

         20                 So, particularly at- the Type A

         21  personalities that are in my district- the other

         22  night we actually had a fascinating discussion with

         23  maps, and GIS for a couple of hours and it was lots

         24  of excitement but lots of concern that the lot could

         25  not be seen broken into two zoning lots which is
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          2  exactly what it was, and the data only showed one.

          3            So, congratulations and condolences at the

          4  same time I would suggest because they were saying,"

          5  but there is not enough."

          6                 Anyway, thank you.

          7                 I have- just because we have been

          8  joined by Council Member Tracy Boyland who chairs

          9  the Woman's Committee and who has a tremendous

         10  interest in child care, as does Council Member De

         11  Blasio, I was just wondering if at Pratt you could

         12  just talk about, so that it puts this in some

         13  context, the fact of the matter is as a licensee,

         14  you have access to the base map, and the fact of the

         15  matter is even with that how are you curtailed from

         16  providing the information?

         17                 Now, we heard earlier that the notion

         18  of- that security, according to some, would not be

         19  compromised with some of the building lines, curb

         20  lines, et cetera that might, in fact, be of

         21  assistance to those looking at what a childcare

         22  network would be.

         23                 So, I am just wondering if you could

         24  just talk about your work within that context, and

         25  perhaps, what an increased availability might be for
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          2  you, so you could help your client but in addition,

          3  so that the child care agencies on their own PC

          4  could be able to access information without having

          5  to go through you?

          6                 MR. GORDON:  Well, a couple of

          7  things.

          8                 Just thinking about this study that

          9  we did, and how we looked at some of the non-

         10  traditional barriers for a parent to get their child

         11  to child care, and for them to get to work. Looking

         12  at elevation points of how high is the hill that

         13  they would have to go up is very important.

         14                 A lot of people, without a GIS

         15  system, looking at a two- demential map would not be

         16  able to analyze that.

         17                 Looking at where the curbs are

         18  located, and the large streets, and the fact that a

         19  parent and their child would have to go across a

         20  huge highway to get to this facility, as opposed to

         21  another one that might be closer, that kind of

         22  analyses is very important, and the value added that

         23  we give to- coming from Pratt, is the ability to

         24  analyze that geographic information.

         25                 On the other hand, the power to
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          2  actually build applications like "myciti" or OASIS,

          3  or some of the work that we are doing with the

          4  Fulton Mall and creating interactive website where

          5  people can actually have a user- friendly

          6  environment where they can add layers, take off

          7  layers, look at the information and make assumptions

          8  and make conclusions on their own, we cannot do that

          9  without having the base map be available through the

         10  license to be able to publish that information on

         11  the web.  That information is very detailed, and we

         12  at this point cannot.

         13                 We can, however, create paper- static

         14  maps that we can share in terms of visual but they

         15  are not dynamic and they are not able to be

         16  interactive, and that I think, is the barrier at

         17  this point.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So what you are

         19  saying is, in order for the non- profit community to

         20  be able to take some of that information and, sort

         21  of, use it to best serve their clients, obviously,

         22  you would have to put that on the web, and obviously

         23  you cannot do that under your license agreement

         24  currently?

         25                 MR. GORDON:  Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

          3                 MR. GORDON:  But then on top of that,

          4  just harping on what Gary said, Gary Ostroff said

          5  about that fact that although we have licenses,

          6  there are a lot of innovators out there in the field

          7  that might be able to think of things in different

          8  ways that they do not have access to this data at

          9  all.  Some of us do not have those kind of resources

         10  where we can say, "we have the NYCMap to even look

         11  at that, to even put together a proposal, or a grant

         12  for even a City contract or a private one."  And you

         13  know, it might shoot ourselves in the foot to say

         14  make it all widely open but I think that that is the

         15  democratic and fair way, and we should pursue that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Jack, I have a

         17  question which is that I know that DoITT is doing a

         18  great job now in terms of participating in the

         19  workshops, and as you suggested and trying to think

         20  of some work groups that would identify some of

         21  these more current demands, so to speak.

         22                 Do you think that this is a good way

         23  to go about trying to deal with some of these

         24  somewhat controversial issues?

         25                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  Wow, a softball
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          2  question, thank you.

          3                 The problems that we have in the real

          4  world do not match up with the departments and the

          5  bureaucracies that we set up. Those are just filing

          6  cabinets, they are useful, but they do not map onto

          7  the problems.

          8                 To solve the problems, you have got

          9  to have communication across the boundaries, and

         10  currently that communication is on the level of the

         11  Council or the level of the Mayor's offices, and we

         12  do not naturally- we were not mandated to come

         13  together, the people in this room, except maybe in

         14  something like GISMO, but not in our working

         15  government or anything else. When we start be

         16  problem oriented, where the common knowledge of the

         17  data, then, we are really equipped to begin to look

         18  at things from the different angles that are

         19  necessary to solve the real world problem and not

         20  just the bureaucratic mandate.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         22                 Micaela, from your experience with

         23  the community boards, did they have needs for some

         24  of this base map?

         25                 Would that be something that,
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          2  particularly, with some of the more sophisticated

          3  district managers and members, that they could in

          4  fact take this information and do planning?

          5                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Well, I think that

          6  as you have noted in your study that assessed the

          7  technological capacity at community boards, the

          8  degree of sophistication, hardware, software, and

          9  training varies dramatically across community

         10  boards, and I would say that we need to first get

         11  everybody on the same system, working with basic

         12  minimum standards for office computing, and have

         13  staff have access to training to perform the basic

         14  office functions, and then think about offering

         15  training for more sophisticated users.

         16                 But, I think to approach it from the

         17  other direction by just starting to give, let's say

         18  the NYCMap and high- end software packages to

         19  community board members in selected instances, who

         20  may have the ability to use it, it really does not

         21  address the holistic problem because what ends up

         22  happening is you might have a staff person in that

         23  office who can use it, they might have a summer

         24  intern that is trained in GIS, that person leaves,

         25  you have the base map on the software sitting there
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          2  in an environment that might not necessarily be

          3  secure, and might not necessarily be the best use of

          4  the investment.

          5                 So, I think really taking holistic

          6  look at where we are, where we need to be, and what

          7  those steps would involve would be my

          8  recommendation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

         10  Boyland did you have a question?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 This question is to Mr. Gordon as I

         14  have had known all my life, Horace Williams all my

         15  life, and he has been wonderful and in Brooklyn,

         16  especially the Brooklyn delegation, we have tried to

         17  do what we can for Pratt.

         18                 We see that the community is really

         19  changing in terms of the geographics but in terms of

         20  the people that live there, and if I guess take the

         21  bus because I cannot take the C Train over to Bill

         22  De Blasio's district, there are a lot of

         23  cyber cafes and there are a lot of technological and

         24  little small businesses that have begun to open up.

         25                 Has Pratt ever, or is Pratt now
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          2  presently doing apprenticeship programs, mentorship

          3  programs for some of these small businesses so they

          4  can begin, especially in Bedford Stuyvesant and

          5  Brownsville, so some of these smaller companies can

          6  begin to reach out and really connect with your

          7  institution which forms, I guess, a larger base in

          8  Central Brooklyn?

          9                 MR. GORDON:  Well, I mean, this is a

         10  little out of my area of expertise.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Oh, no, no.

         12  Dabble

         13  into it.

         14                 MR. GORDON:  I can dabble, I mean, I

         15  can show a couple of instances that I know about,

         16  which is- one would be the Myrtle Avenue

         17  Revitalization Program which we have been very

         18  active, Pratt Institute, in revitalizing the Myrtle

         19  area around Pratt Institute, and through Downtown

         20  Brooklyn to Bedford Avenue in Brooklyn.

         21                 We actually have submitted a 197- A

         22  Plan that we have worked with Bedford- Stuyvesant,

         23  you might be very aware of this, the Bedford-

         24  Styvesant 197- A Community Plan, which we have

         25  worked in liaison with the business sector and
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          2  community within Bedford Styvesant, helping them to

          3  realize their land use dreams and their dreams of

          4  planning for their community, as well as we worked

          5  with Greenpoint- Williamsburg, and their 197- A

          6  Plans as well.

          7                 There are many instances where, like

          8  I said, outside of my department, with my

          9  organization Pratt Institute Center for Community

         10  and Environmental Development but there are people

         11  like Horace Williams that have been long standing

         12  members of the community, and at Pratt Institute and

         13  have worked with Rudy Bryant (phonetic), in actually

         14  developing business models and incubators for

         15  working with them in the community, and sharing an

         16  access of this digital information that we work with

         17  is key to being able to analyze and plan for, and to

         18  share that information from a very high quality

         19  standpoint of view, and very knowledgeable in terms

         20  of the data that we use to provide people with the

         21  tools in their neighborhood to actually do that kind

         22  of work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  And I say

         24  that because I met recently, or had a conversation

         25  with Covin Graham from Restoration, and Restoration
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          2  is not in itself going through a metamorphose and

          3  changing in Bedford- Styvesant, and wouldn't it be a

          4  wonderful connection if Pratt with the information

          5  that you have connects with Restoration, and they

          6  are able to do some of these apprenticeship

          7  programs, mentorship programs, and it spreads down

          8  Fulton Street?

          9                 MR. GORDON:  We would love to do more

         10  of that. Actually, Coven Graham is one our advisory

         11  board at PICKETT (phonetic), as we are more commonly

         12  known as, Pratt Center. We have done things in the

         13  past where we have taken high school students

         14  through the Weed and Seed Program up in the Bronx,

         15  and actually done courses with teaching them GIS

         16  technology, and working with them to actually plan

         17  and actually`asset map' their neighborhoods and

         18  bring that back to the computer, create little

         19  interactive websites, showing where things are

         20  located, getting them excited about technology.

         21                 Some more of that stuff can be looked

         22  at and I would be willing to talk to you about how

         23  we could--.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Oh, I would

         25  love to as we are beginning to do, I guess, the last
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          2  final phases of building in Brownsville and Bedford-

          3  Stuyvesant just based on the fact that we are

          4  running out of land.  But in doing large projects

          5  like Hope Six, which has a component to it that

          6  leaves room for technological advances as we do a

          7  large number of economic development things that we

          8  can have, that we should have.

          9                 MR. GORDON:  Sure, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  And I would

         11  like to thank the Chair about the child care issue.

         12  I think that it is very important that we stay on

         13  track with that.

         14                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 I have one other question for Jack,

         18  which is that you mentioned the regional issues.

         19                 How does that take place?  Is it

         20  government to government, within GISMO?

         21                 How does the regional discussion- is

         22  there enough of a platform?

         23                 Go on, talk.

         24                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  There have been a

         25  couple of attempts at bringing people from the
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          2  different- it is a very complicated--.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It is very

          4  complicated.

          5                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  Because DIS in New

          6  York is the City more than each of the boroughs,

          7  which are actually counties.

          8                 In other parts of New York, it is

          9  counties.  In Connecticut, it is towns.  In Jersey,

         10  it is counties and towns and cities.

         11                 So all of these entities have GIS

         12  things.  The, let's see I forgot under what federal

         13  auspices there is some movement to do that, we have

         14  come together twice, and it has been mostly chatter

         15  because we do not have any common data, I think.  We

         16  do not have anything solid to sink our teeth in, it

         17  is just people who like to talk about, "well, how

         18  can we organize ourselves?"  But we cannot really

         19  organize ourselves around anything until we have

         20  that anything.

         21                 I would like to see people trading

         22  data and base maps as a way to begin a real

         23  communication.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Fine, and does

         25  this go on sponsored by the federal government?
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          2                 I think it would have to be organized

          3  just by people deciding that they are going to make

          4  this their priority.

          5                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  There was a federal

          6  committee and Harvey Simon (phonetic), I think was

          7  right here in Region 2, I think helped organize it.

          8  But it is a weak thing, I mean it is just kind of a

          9  thing that the federal government would like to see

         10  done.

         11                 There are places where this has been

         12  done. Minneapolis/St. Paul is organized.  Toronto is

         13  organized because it has metropolitan government.

         14  So does Montreal.  Paris, London, they are organized

         15  because they have a metropolitan government. Denmark

         16  is organized, and more and more in Europe, they are

         17  getting very organized on the larger than city

         18  levels.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Is there

         20  anything you do not know about GIS in the world,

         21  Jack Eichenbaum?

         22                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I do not think

         24  so.

         25                 On that note, I would like to thank
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          2  everybody.

          3                 We are going to stay because we are

          4  going to vote on a resolution through- hopefully

          5  provide wiring for new affordable housing in New

          6  York City.  It is Resolution Number 669, something

          7  that we are going to vote out of committee.

          8                 I want to thank everybody here,

          9  particularly Marsha for staying with us while we

         10  went through the entire hearing, and for everybody

         11  who participated.  We will definitely participate in

         12  all, making sure some of this happens.

         13                 Thank you all very much, talking

         14  about GIS.

         15                 MR. EICHENBAUM:  Thank you.

         16                 Now I would like to call on my

         17  colleagues regarding Resolution Number 669, this is

         18  a resolution that we discussed with the Housing

         19  Committee some time ago, and it has lots of support,

         20  I think, in terms of our future and providing the

         21  computer- fast speed, internet services for everyone

         22  trying to curtail the digital divide as much as

         23  possible.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Resolution 669,

         25  Community and Technology in Government.
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          2                 Council Member Brewer.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Madam Chair,

          6  may I be excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Of course.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  I think that

          9  Resolution 669 is a wonderful opportunity, as I

         10  mentioned earlier for the housing and economic

         11  development, which we really need to have.

         12                 As I listen to the Mayor talk about

         13  the industrial park and I listen to him talk about

         14  the financing to bring industry back to New York, I

         15  hope he was serious about that but the housing

         16  market is ready and primed for this kind of

         17  marriage, and I support this wholeheartedly.

         18                 I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  De Blasio.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DE BLASIO:  Thanking

         21  the Chair for bringing forward this resolution, I

         22  vote aye.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of three in
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          2  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          3  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          4                 Council members, please sign the

          5  committee report.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

          8                 Hearing adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing adjourned 11:50 a.m.)
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